
Merton Council 

Pensions Committee Agenda 
 
Membership 

Councillors:  

Councillor Laxmi Attawar (Chair) 

Councillor Adam Bush (Vice Chair) 

Councillor Owen Pritchard  

Co-opted members:  

Gwyn Isaac (GMB Union Rep) 

Emma Price (Pensioner Rep) 

Caroline Holland (LBM)  

Roger Kershaw (LBM) 

Nemashe Sivayogan (LBM) 

 
 
Date: Thursday 24 March 2022  

Time:   7.00 pm 

Venue:   Council Chamber, Merton Civic Centre, London Road, Morden, SM4 
5DX 

This is a public meeting and attendance by the public is encouraged and welcomed.  
For more information about the agenda please contact  
Merton.PensionFund@merton.gov.uk or telephone 020 8545 3458. 
 
All Press contacts: communications@merton.gov.uk, 020 8545 3181 

mailto:communications@merton.gov.uk


Pensions Committee  Agenda 

24 March 2022  

1  Apologies for absence   

2  Declarations of pecuniary interest   

3  Minutes of the previous meeting  1 - 2 

4  Quarterly Fund Performance Review (Oct to Dec 2021)  3 - 16 

5  Merton Pension Fund 2021/22 Audit Plan and 2020/21 Final 
Audit results report  

17 - 72 

6  Merton Pension administration- update by Pension shared 
services  

73 - 80 

7  Future Meeting Dates  

Future meeting dates: 
 
30 June 2022 
15 September 2022 
01 December 2022 
30 March 2023 

 

8  Any Other Business   

9  Exclusion of the public  

To RESOLVE that the public are excluded from the meeting 
during consideration of the following report(s) on the grounds 
that it is (they are) exempt from disclosure for the reasons 
stated in the report(s). 

 

10  Minutes of the previous meeting (exempt)  81 - 82 

11  Quarterly Fund and investment Managers Performance 
Review (Oct to Dec 2021).  

83 - 116 

12  Social Impact Investment - recommendation  117 - 
148 

13  Investment priorities  149 - 
150 

 

Note on declarations of interest 

Members are advised to declare any Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any matter to be considered at 
the meeting.  If a pecuniary interest is declared they should withdraw from the meeting room during 
the whole of the consideration of that mater and must not participate in any vote on that matter.  For 
further advice please speak with the Managing Director, South London Legal Partnership. 





This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 

 

 

Merton Pensions Committee 

Minutes of the meeting held on  24 November 2021 

 

Councillor Laxmi Attawar (Chair) 

Councillor Adam Bush (Vice Chair) 

Councillor Tobin Byers 

Emma Price (Pensioner Rep) 

Gwyn Isaac (GMB Union Rep)  

Caroline Holland (LBM) 

Roger Kershaw (LBM) 

Nemashe Sivayogan (LBM) 

 

Actuary – Barnett Waddingham 

Investment Consultant – Hymans Robertson  

 

1.0  MEETING (Part 1) 

1.1 Introductions made by Chair.  

1.2 Members Declaration of Interest – None.  

2. Minutes of Last Meeting Held (Part 1) – 23 September 2021 

2.1 Agreed as true record.  

3. Quarterly Fund Performance Review (July – Sept 2021)   

3.1 RK said the funds total market value increased by £6.8m over the quarter. The 

fund has benefited from being overweight in equities but was now time to 

secure a lock in.  

3.2 We have recently started to rebalance the fund by moving from equities to 

diversified growth funds in the LCIV. 

4. March 2022 Triennial valuation – by Barnett Waddingham 

4.1 BM said the fund was in a healthy position. Funding level of 103% with a £20m 

surplus. 

4.2 For the funding valuation need to make educated guesses regarding liabilities, 

e.g. level of inflation and life expectancy. 

4,3  Cllr Bush asked about the 12-year recovery period. BM said although likely the 

fund will be in surplus again this period will not be reduced as it would lead to a 

volatile contribution rate. 

 

 

 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



2 

 

 

 

 
5. Merton Pension Fund – Update on governance arrangements 

5.1 RK summarised the report stating the PFAP is now formally a Pension 

Committee and is now a full decision-making committee. 

6. Training Plan 

6.1 NS presented the Training Plan and reminded members of the Hymans online 

training modules. 

7. AOB 

7.1 None. 

 

Page 2



1 

 

Committee:   
 
Merton Pension Committe      Date: 24 March 2022 
 
Merton Pension Board     Date:  28 March 2022 
 
Wards:  All 

Subject:  Merton Pension Fund Performance – December 2021 
 

Lead officer:      Caroline Holland - Director of Corporate Services 

Lead member:  Councillor. Owen Pritchard- Cabinet Member for Finance 

Contact officer:  Roger Kershaw- AD Resources 

This is a Public Document  

 
RECOMMENDATION 
Members are asked to note the content of this report, in particular, the market values and 

performance of the total Fund and component portfolios for the quarters ending 31 

December 2021, attribution of the results and the market environment during the period. 

 

1.0  PURPOSE OF REPORT 

1.1  To report the investment performance at total Fund level, and of the individual fund 
managers, for the quarter ending 31 December 2021. The report highlights the 
performance of the total Fund by asset class compared to the customised benchmark. 

 
1.2 The report gives the Committee a consistent basis on which to review the performance of 

the Fund as at 31 December 2021. The report provides information to support future 
actions including periodic rebalancing and review of investment strategy and investment 
management arrangement. 
 

2.0  FUND PERFORMANCE  

2.1 The attached Fund Analysis & Performance Report (Appendix 1) produced by the Fund’s 
investment and performance consultants Hymans provides useful analysis and insights of 
the Pension Fund activities and results for the quarters ending December 2021. 

The table below shows the total fund valuation for the quarter ended December 2021. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 3

Agenda Item 4



2 

 

VALUATION SUMMARY 
PERIOD ENDING 31 DECEMBER 2021 

 

 
 
 

2.2   The Fund's total market value increased by £29.7m over the quarter, from £933.3m   to 
£963.0m. The allocation for global equities was reduced as part of the rquity rebalancing 
in the quarter but despite this they remained the Fund’s largest net contributor, but 
performed below the bench mark. 

 
2.3   Over the 3 months to 31 December 2021, total Fund assets returned 3.4% compared to 

the benchmark of 4.2%. This equates to an underperformance of 0.8%. Over the last 12 
months, the Fund performance was 11.0%, and 3 year annualised performance was 
13.9%. The annual Actuarial performance target is 4.8%. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 4



3 

 

 
 

PERFORMANCE SUMMARY 
1 OCTOBER 2021 TO 31 DECEMBER 2021 

 
 

 
 
 
2.4     The Fund is an open fund and long-term investment focused. The Fund will continue 

to work on this basis with the key focus to ESG and maintain a stable contribution 
rate.  

2.5  The Strategic Asset Allocation (SAA) has been updated to reflect the 
recommendations of the 2020 Investment Strategy Review.  

2.6 The Fund continues to remain underweight to Property, Private Credit, 
Infrastructure, and Multi Asset Credit and overweight to Global and Emerging 
Markets Equity, which will remain until the private markets portfolio is fully drawn 
down. The 5% allocation to Social Impact is yet to be implemented.  

2.7 In Q2 2022, we aim to appointment a manager and allocate funds on our Social 
impact allocation. The property allocation will be reviewed as part of the 2022 

Page 5



4 

 

investment  strategy review and based on the 2022 triannial valution the allocation 
will be amended.  

  

2.8     The Fund moved to is diversified portfolio in 2018 and since them the Fund value 
has increased steadly. Over this period the Fund value has appreciated by £314m 
or 33%. 

 

 

 

3.0 Market Background/Outlook 

3.1 Since the beginning of thr Russian Ukraine conflict the fincial maket started to see 
the impact and the value of the investments started to declaine. More detail provided 
on the performance report on the impact to the Merton investments. In general we 
can see the below impacts due to the conflict and military actions. 

3.2 Surging energy prices fuel inflation: Oil and gas prices have increased by 49% and 
120% respectively since the start of the year, pushing up the global inflation 
forecast by +1.5%. 

3.3 Central banks are faced with combating spiralling inflation while growth lags: Rate 
increases from the Fed and BoE are still likely, but a more conservative approach 
can now be expected. 

3.4 Fallout from commodity-driven inflation will likely have a more direct impact on 
traditional manufacturing industries, in which businesses may not be able to pass 
on all additional costs. 

3.5 Global real GDP growth for 2022 is forecast to be 0.5% lower than was expected 
in January, with the Eurozone likely to feel the most economic pain outside of 
Russia and Ukraine. 

3.6 The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic continues to be uneven across economies 
depending on geography, the timing of outbreaks, the composition of activity, 
magnitude and quality of vaccinations and boosters, and mobility restrictions 
imposed by authorities.  

 

 

649 660 
721 688 

899
926 933

963

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

March        
2017

March        
2018

March       
2019

March       
2020

March          
2021

June        
2021

Sept        
2021

Dec       
2021

FUND VALUATION (£M)

Page 6



5 

 

 

 

 

4.  OTHER ISSUES AFFECTING THE FUND  
4.1     None 

 
5.        FINANCIAL, RESOURCE AND PROPERTY IMPLICATIONS 
5.1 All relevant implications are included in the report. 

 
6.    LEGAL AND STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS 
6.1 All relevant implications are included in the report. 

 
7.  HUMAN RIGHTS, EQUALITIES AND COMMUNITY COHESION IMPLICATIONS 
7.1 N/A 

 
8.        RISK MANAGEMENT AND HEALTH AND SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 
8.1  Risk management is an integral part of designing the investment portfolio of the 

fund. 
 

9.        BACKGROUND PAPERS 
9.1  Hymans Robertson LLP – quarterly performance report. 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Hymans Robertson LLP is authorised and regulated by 

the Financial Conduct Authority

London Borough of 
Merton Pension Fund

Q4 2021 Investment Monitoring Report 

Nick Jellema – Senior Investment Consultant

Kameel Kapitan – Investment Consultant

Jamie McLaughlan – Investment Analyst

P
age 9



Executive Summary

The Fund’s assets returned 3.4% 

during the final quarter of 2021. To 

provide context, we have assessed 

total returns against a composite 

benchmark - a weighted average of the 

underlying manager benchmarks. 

Against this comparator, the Fund was 

behind benchmark by 0.7% (top left 

chart). We have also shown 

performance against the Fund's 

actuarial target (top right chart) against 

which returns are favourable.

Overall, the Fund assets increased by 

£30m from £933.3m to £963.0m.

During the final quarter, markets rallied 

despite concerns over the spread of 

the Omicron variant with global equity 

markets returning 6.2%. Inflation 

remained a continued threat to real 

growth as many developed countries 

grappled with this headwind. Property 

markets, buoyed by the continued 

easing of lockdown 

restrictions, recorded another positive 

quarter.

Gilt implied inflation pushed higher 

exceeding 6% at short durations.

From a Fund mandate perspective:

- Most equity mandates delivered 

positive absolute returns.

- Both diversified growth funds 

recorded positive relative returns.

- Property again was the largest net 

contributor on a purely asset class 

basis. 

- The Risk Management Framework 

contributed positively to 

performance as Sterling 

appreciated relative to EUR, USD 

and YEN.

Dashboard

Fund performance vs benchmark/target

Relative quarterly performance vs benchmark/target

2

Dashboard            Funding            Strategy / Risk            Performance            Managers            Background     Appendix

Fund performance vs actuarial target

P
age 10



Following the 2019 strategy review 

the agreed long-term target allocation 

for the Fund is as follows:

Global equities: 30.0%

Emerging market equities: 10.0%

Diversified growth fund: 8.0%

Property: 5.0%

Private credit: 6.5%

Infrastructure: 11.5%

Social Impact: 5.0%

Multi-asset credit: 9.0%

Risk management framework: 15.0%

In time the Fund will transition 

towards this target allocation. As it 

does, the benchmark (as agreed with 

Officers) shown in the table and used 

in the benchmark performance 

calculation on the next will be 

gradually updated to reflect progress 

to date.

Commitments to infrastructure and 

private credit investments continued 

to be drawn down over time.  A 

manager selection exercise for the 

Fund’s allocation to social impact 

investment is currently under way.

There were a number of transitions 

which occurred during the quarter. 

Notably, the UBS World Equity 

Tracker Fund was fully exited from 

and positions in Global Alpha Growth 

and Sustainable Equity funds 

trimmed. Proceeds were split equally 

between the two Diversified Growth 

funds and the new Quinbrook Net 

Zero Power Fund received it’s full 

commitment of £30m. The Fund’s 

commitment to the JP Morgan 

infrastructure fund was increased by 

£45m during the quarter but is yet to 

be drawn by the manager.

Asset Allocation

Asset Allocation

Asset class exposures

Source: Investment Managers

3

Dashboard            Funding            Strategy / Risk            Performance            Managers            Background     Appendix

At the time of writing, latest quarterly information in respect of mandate held with MIRA, Permira and Quinbrook Low Carbon Power Fund is 

unavailable. The Q4 2021 valuation shown mirrors the Q3 2021 valuations and includes an allowance for FX movements and for MIRA a 

capital call completed during the period.

P
age 11



The final quarter of 2021 saw the 

Fund deliver absolute returns of 3.4%, 

underperforming the composite 

benchmark with relative returns of -

0.7%. Over the previous 12 months 

absolute performance has been 

strong. Over the longest time period 

shown of 3 years, the Fund has 

comprehensively outperformed its 

target with relative returns of 3.4% 

p.a.

Perhaps unsurprisingly, the Fund’s 

largest net contributor was from the 

sizeable allocation to equities despite 

being trimmed substantially during the 

quarter. The UBS Alternative Beta 

strategy was the top contributor this 

quarter with returns of 7.3%.

Both emerging market mandates 

continued to struggle during the 

quarter.

Of the two DGFs, Baillie Gifford was 

again the stronger performer with 

quarterly returns of 3.8%. Its 

directional style benefited from the 

broader equity market gains. 

Both property mandates performed 

well during both the quarter and the 

year in absolute terms, however 

returns trailed the benchmark for 

each.

At time of writing, MIRA, Permira and 

Churchill reporting information was 

unavailable. For performance 

reporting purposes we have therefore 

assumed nil returns over Q4 2021. 

Once details are received, 

performance figures will be updated 

such that future reports reflect actual 

Q4 2021 movements for each.

Manager Performance

Manager performance 

Source: Fund performance provided by Investment Managers and is net of fees. 

Benchmark performance provided by Investment Managers and DataStream 

4

Dashboard            Funding            Strategy / Risk            Performance            Managers            Background     Appendix

Note: 12-month performance for the LCIV Ruffer Absolute Return Fund is since inception on 13 January 2021. Furthermore, Q4 2021 performance 

figures for MIRA, Permira and Quinbrook have been assumed flat due to lack of manager information at the time of writing (see comment on left). 

UBS World Equity Tracker Fund 3 month performance is part quarter until termination on 21 December 2021.

P
age 12



Source: DataStream. [1] Returns shown in Sterling terms. Indices shown (from left to right) are: FTSE All World, FTSE All Share, FTSE AW 

Developed Europe ex-UK, FTSE North America, FTSE Japan, FTSE AW Developed Asia Pacific ex-Japan, FTSE Emerging, FTSE Fixed 

Gilts All Stocks, FTSE Index-Linked Gilts All Maturities, iBoxx Corporates All Investment Grade All Maturities, JP Morgan GBI Overseas 

Bonds, MSCI UK Monthly Property; UK Interbank 7 Day. 

Historic returns for world markets [1]

Market Background

5

Annual CPI Inflation (% p.a.) Sterling trend chart (% change)

Economic momentum has slowed as 

rising COVID cases have led to a 

modest re-imposition of restrictions and 

increasing social distancing. This is 

expected to weigh on growth in Q4 2021 

and Q1 2022, but we still anticipate 

above-trend growth in 2022.

There are signs that the strain on supply 

chains is easing, though the overall rate 

of price increases remains high. UK 

headline CPI inflation rose to 5.1% year-

on-year in November whilst the 

equivalent US and eurozone measures 

rose to 6.8% and 4.9% respectively. In 

response, the Federal Open Markets 

Committee (FOMC) announced plans to 

accelerate the tapering of asset 

purchases, with the median FOMC 

member forecasting three rate hikes 

next year. The Bank of England raised 

rates to 0.25% p.a., with further rate 

hikes expected in 2022.

Trade-weighted sterling rose 1.7% 

through the quarter as markets adjusted 

for the earlier than expected rate rises. 

The US dollar rose 0.6% in trade-

weighted terms, perhaps reflecting both 

safe haven appeal and slightly more 

hawkish messaging from the Federal 

Reserve. 

US and UK bond yield curves flattened 

with short-term yields rising to reflect 

expectations of further interest rate 

hikes. Long-term yields remained largely 

unchanged. UK 10-year implied inflation, 

as measured by the difference between 

conventional and inflation-linked bonds 

of the same maturity, ended the quarter 

a little higher at 3.9% p.a. whilst longer 

term implied inflation fell. US 10-year 

implied inflation rose 0.2% p.a. to 2.6% 

p.a

Dashboard            Funding            Strategy / Risk            Performance            Managers            Background     Appendix

P
age 13



Investment and speculative grade credit 
spreads (% p.a.)

Gilt yields chart (% p.a.)

Market Background

6

Global equity sector returns (%) [2]Regional equity returns [1]

Source: DataStream, Barings, ICE [1] FTSE All World Indices. Commentary compares regional equity returns in local currency. [2] Returns 

shown in Sterling terms and relative to FTSE All World. FTSE indices migrated to a new ICB structure in Q1 2021.

Global investment-grade spreads 

increased by 0.1% p.a. to 1.0% p.a., whilst 

speculative-grade spreads ended the 

quarter broadly in line with end-September 

levels at 3.7% p.a

Despite falling in November over Omicron 

variant concerns, global equities produced 

a total return of 7.0% in Q4, propelled 

higher by strong earnings growth. Sterling 

strength weighed on returns to unhedged 

UK investors delivering a 6.2% return in 

sterling terms. All sectors produced 

positive returns except telecoms, on an 

absolute basis.  Outside telecoms, energy 

and financials were the main 

underperformers, weighed on by demand 

expectations and flatter yield curves, 

respectively.  Technology was the notable 

outperformer, bolstered by strong earnings 

releases and the prospect of further 

lockdowns spurring demand for tech.

North America posted double digit returns 

on the back of tech outperformance. 

Japan, which reintroduced strict border 

restrictions shortly after the Omicron 

variant was made public, is at the bottom 

of the regional performance rankings over 

the quarter.  Asian and emerging markets 

also continued their underperformance 

versus developed markets.

UK Monthly Property capital value index 

rose 13.9% over the 12 months to end 

December due to a buoyant industrial 

sector, where capital values have risen 

32.5%. Retail capital values have risen by 

6.9% over 12 months. There has been a 

flattening of the declines experienced in 

the office sector, delivering marginally 

positive capital growth of 0.1% over 2021. 

Total return on the index, including 

income, was 19.9% in the 12 months to 

end December.

Dashboard            Funding            Strategy / Risk            Performance            Managers            Background     Appendix

P
age 14



Please note the value of investments, and income from them, may fall as well as rise. This includes equities, government or 

corporate bonds, and property, whether held directly or in a pooled or collective investment vehicle. Further, investment in 

developing or emerging markets may be more volatile and less marketable than in mature markets. Exchange rates may also 

affect the value of an investment. As a result, an investor may not get back the amount originally invested. Past performance 

is not necessarily a guide to future performance.

In some cases, we have commercial business arrangements/agreements with clients within the financial sector where we 

provide services. These services are entirely separate from any advice that we may provide in recommending products to our 

advisory clients. Our recommendations are provided as a result of clients’ needs and based upon our independent 

research. Where there is a perceived or potential conflict, alternative recommendations can be made available.

Hymans Robertson LLP has relied upon third party sources and all copyright and other rights are reserved by such third party 

sources as follows: DataStream data: © DataStream; Fund Manager data: Fund Manager; Morgan Stanley Capital International 

data: © and database right Morgan Stanley Capital International and its licensors 2021. All rights reserved. MSCI has no liability 

to any person for any losses, damages, costs or expenses suffered as a result of any use or reliance on any of the information 

which may be attributed to it; Hymans Robertson data: © Hymans Robertson. Whilst every effort has been made to ensure the 

accuracy of such estimates or data - including third party data - we cannot accept responsibility for any loss arising from their 

use. © Hymans Robertson LLP 2022.

Hymans Robertson are among the investment professionals who calculate relative performance geometrically as follows:

Some industry practitioners use the simpler arithmetic method as follows:

The geometric return is a better measure of investment performance when compared to the arithmetic return, to account for

potential volatility of returns.

The difference between the arithmetic mean return and the geometric mean return increases as the volatility increases.

Risk Warning

Geometric v Arithmetic Performance

Appendix

7

Dashboard            Funding            Strategy / Risk            Performance            Managers            Background     Appendix

P
age 15



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

Committee:  Pensions Committee 

Merton Pension Committee      Date: 24 March 2022 

Merton Pension Board      Date:  28 March 2022 

 

Wards:  All 

Subject:  Merton Pension Fund – 2020/21 Final Audit Results Report and 2021-22 
Audit Plan  
 

Lead officer: Caroline Holland -Director of Corporate Services 

Lead member: Cllr. Owen Pritchard -Cabinet Member for Finance 

Contact officer: Nemashe Sivayogan- Head of Treasury and Pension 

This is a Public Document  

 

RECOMMENDATION 

Members are asked to note the Merton Pension Fund’s 2020-21 final audit report and 

the 2021/22 Audit planning report from Ernst and Young that relates to the Fund’s 

financial accounts, as set out in Appendix 1 and 2 

That Committee notes the preparatory activity undertaken and underway by Officers, as 

set out in the main report. 

 

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMAR 

1.1.  This report presents the Merton Pension Fund’s 2020-21 final audit report following the  

 completion of the audit and issuing an unqualified audit opinion on the 4 February 2022 

1.2 The Audit plan is prepared by the Council’s external auditors Ernst and Young LLP  

 sets out the details of their proposed audit scope for the Merton Pension Fund for the 

 year ending 31 March 2022. 

 

2. DETAIL 

2.1    the 2020/21 Final audit report have no major change from the report presented to the 
committee on the 23 Sept 2021. Even though the IAS 540 issues arose at a later stage 
of the audit. The auditors had nothing to disclose or make an audit recommendation in 
this section. 

2.2 Following the completing of the audit, the 2020/21 Annual report is now published on our 
website. 

 

Page 17

Agenda Item 5



2.3 The 2021/22 audit plan sets out to the key considerations of planning for this year’s audit 
with a view to ensuring that the year-end activities can be managed smoothly. 

 
2.4 The responsibilities of the auditors are set out in Appendix 1 – Merton Pension Fund 

Audit Plan- Briefing on Audit Matters.  
 
2.5 The auditors are asked to treat the Local Government Pension Scheme as a Stand-

alone body, with a separate audit plan and report to the Pension Committee. 
 
Preparatory Activity for 2021-22 Statement of Accounts 
 

2.6 The preparations for financial year-end have commenced already.  The officers have 
started having regular meetings with the auditors in relation to Interim and the final audit. 
Even though it took longer to sign off the 2021/22 audit we hope to build on last year’s 
good work by both parties and have a smooth audit.  

 
2.7 We now have a proposed audit timetable for the pension fund audit.  

EY will carry out their sample tastings and walk throughs in May and June 2022. Any 
remaining work will be completed as part of the main Council audit in Sept/oct 2022 and 
complete it by the statuary deadline 30 November 2022. 

  
 

3. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 
3.1. N/A 
 
4 CONSULTATIONS UNDERTAKEN OR PROPOSED 
 
4.1. Although the Pension Fund’s Statement of Accounts and Annual Report are statutory 

documents whose formats are dictated by statute and regulation, they are produced by 
the pension team at Merton by closely working with pension shared services and input 
from the Fund’s investment managers and the Fund custodian. 

 
5 TIME TABLE 
 
5.1. The 2020-21 reporting cycle opens formally with this report and will be continued with the 

presentation of the final Pension Fund Statement of Accounts and Annual Report in 
September 2022. 

 
6 FINANCIAL, RESOURCE AND PROPERTY IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 There are no direct financial implications in agreeing the recommendations in this report. 

The annual audit fee of £16,170.00 will be paid by the Pension Fund. However, there are 
some additional charges by EY will make up the total audit fee. Please see the table below 
for the breakdown. 

 

Page 18



 
1. We remain in discussion with PSAA about increasing the scale fee to reflect the additional work auditors 

are required to do to meet regulatory requirements. In our view the scale fee for the Merton PF audit 
should be increased by £28,290. For 2019/20 PSAA determined additional fees of £9,900in relation to this. 
 

2. The 2019/20 additional fees have been agreed with management and approved by PSAA. 
 

3.  IAS19 work is to provide assurance to the auditor of the LB Merton. These additional fees are not subject 
to approval from PSAA and for 2019/20 (where there was additional work on the triennial data) we have 
agreed fees with management. 

 

 
7 LEGAL AND STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1. The Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015 require the Council to maintain an 

adequate and effective system of internal audit of its accounting records, and of its system 
of internal control in accordance with proper practice. 

 
7.2 The Pension Fund accounts are governed by the overall financial framework for local 

authorities, and in conjunction with the full Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting 
in the United Kingdom: 2021-22 Accounts (‘The Code’). 
 
 

8 HUMAN RIGHTS, EQUALITIES AND COMMUNITY COHESION IMPLICATIONS 
8.1. N/A. 
 
 
9 CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS 
9.1. N/A. 
 
10 RISK MANAGEMENT AND HEALTH AND SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 
10.1. N/A. 
 
11 APPENDICES  
11.1 EY – Pension Fund audit plan 2021-22. 

 
 

12 BACKGROUND PAPERS 
12.1. 2021-22 CIPFA Sample accounts and Disclosure checklist. 

 
 
 

Page 19



 
 

Page 20



Merton Pension Fund
Final Audit results report

Year ended 31 March 2021

25 October 2021

P
age 21



2

Private and Confidential 25 October 2021

London Borough of Merton
Standards and General Purposes Committee
Civic Centre
Morden
SM4 5DX

Dear Committee Members
2021 Final Audit Results Report

We are pleased to attach our updated audit results report for the forthcoming meeting of the Standards and General Purposes
Committee. This report summarises our audit conclusion in relation to the audit of Merton Pension Fund for 2020/21.

Subject to concluding the outstanding matters listed in our report, we anticipate issuing an unqualified audit opinion on the financial
statements in the form at Section 3 of this report.

This report is intended solely for the use of the Standards and General Purposes Committee, other members of the Authority, and
senior management. It should not be used for any other purpose or given to any other party without obtaining our written consent.

We would like to thank your staff for their help during the engagement given the additional pressures they have faced responding to
the pandemic and working remotely.

We welcome the opportunity to discuss the contents of this report with you at the Committee meeting on 4 November 2021.

Yours faithfully

Elizabeth Jackson
Associate Partner
For and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP
Encl

P
age 22



3

Contents
Executive
Summary01 04Areas of

Audit Focus02 Draft Audit
Report03

Other
reporting
issues

05

Audit
Differences

Appendices08Independence07
Assessment of
Control
Environment

06

Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA) issued the “Statement of responsibilities of auditors and audited bodies”. It is available from the PSAA website (https://www.psaa.co.uk/audit-
quality/statement-of-responsibilities/)).The Statement of responsibilities serves as the formal terms of engagement between appointed auditors and audited bodies. It summarises where the different
responsibilities of auditors and audited bodies begin and end, and what is to be expected of the audited body in certain areas.
The “Terms of Appointment and further guidance (updated April 2018)” issued by the PSAA sets out additional requirements that auditors must comply with, over and above those set out in the National
Audit Office Code of Audit Practice (the Code) and in legislation, and covers matters of practice and procedure which are of a recurring nature.
This report is made solely to the Standards and General Purposes Committeeand management of the London Borough of Merton Pension Fund in accordance with the statement of responsibilities. Our
work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Standards and General Purposes Committee, and management of the London Borough of Merton Pension Fund those matters we are required to
state to them in this report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Standards and General Purposes
Committee and management of the London Borough of Merton Pension Fund for this report or for the opinions we have formed. It should not be provided to any third-party without our prior written
consent.

P
age 23



4

Executive Summary01

P
age 24



5

Executive Summary

Scope update

In our audit planning report tabled at the 11 March 2021 Standards and General Purposes Committee meeting, we provided you with an overview of our
audit scope and approach for the audit of the financial statements. We carried out our audit in accordance with this plan with the following updates:

Auditing accounting estimates
A revised auditing standard has been issued in respect of the audit of accounting estimates. The revised standard requires auditors to consider inherent
risks associated with the production of accounting estimates. These could relate, for example, to the complexity of the method applied, subjectivity in
the choice of data or assumptions or a high degree of estimation uncertainty. As part of this, auditors now consider risk on a spectrum (from low to high
inherent risk) rather than a simplified classification of whether there is a significant risk or not.  At the same time, we may see the number of significant
risks we report in respect of accounting estimates to increase as a result of the revised guidance in this area. The changes to the standard may affect the
nature and extent of information that we may request and will likely increase the level of audit work required. In addition to the valuation of level 3
investments, which we have treated as areas of audit focus in our approach, we also consider IAS 26 disclosures as a higher inherent risk estimate. We
do not consider this to be an area of audit focus as entries in the Fund’s financial statements are disclosure only and have no impact on the Fund’s
primary statements of account.

Changes to reporting timescales
As a result of COVID-19, new regulations, the Accounts and Audit (Coronavirus) (Amendment) Regulations 2021 No. 263, have been published and
came into force on 31 March 2021. This announced a change to publication date for final, audited accounts from 31 July to 30 September 2021 for all
relevant authorities.

Changes in materiality - We updated our planning materiality assessment using the draft financial statements and have also reconsidered our risk
assessment.

Planning materiality Performance materiality Audit differences

Our planning materiality represents 1%
of the prior year’s net assets, consistent
year on year.

Performance materiality represents 75% of
planning materiality and is the top of our
range, consistent year on year.

We will report all uncorrected misstatements
relating to the primary statements (net asset
statement and fund account) greater than
5% of planning materiality.

Planned £6.9m £5.2m £0.345m

Final £9.0m £6.8m £0.450m

P
age 25



6

Executive Summary
Scope update (continued)

Additional audit procedures as a result of Covid-19

Other changes in the entity and regulatory environment as a result of Covid-19 that have not resulted in an additional risk, but resulted in the following impact on our
audit strategy were as follows:

Information Produced by the Entity (IPE): We identified an increased risk around the completeness, accuracy, and appropriateness of information produced by the
entity due to the inability of the audit team to verify original documents or re-run reports on-site from the Fund’s systems. We undertook the following to address this
risk:

• Used the screen sharing function of Microsoft Teams to evidence re-running of reports used to generate the IPE we audited; and

• Agree IPE to scanned documents or other system screenshots.

Status of the audit
Our audit work in respect of the Fund opinion is substantially complete. The following items relating to the completion of our audit procedures were outstanding at the
date of this report.

• Agreement of all final amendments to the financial statements and annual report
• Update of our subsequent events procedures to the date of our opinion
• Receipt of a signed letter of management representation

Subject to the satisfactory completion of these procedures and receipt of authorised financial statements we are proposing an unqualified opinion - see Section 3

Audit differences
At the date of this report there are no unadjusted audit differences. The Fund has agreed to adjust for a small number of differences arising from our audit, largely
relating to updated valuation of investment assets. We include further details in Section 4.

P
age 26



7

Executive Summary
Areas of audit focus

Our audit plan identified significant risks and areas of focus for our audit of the Authority’s financial statements. We summarise below our latest findings.

This report sets out our latest observations and conclusions on the above matters, and any others identified, in the “Areas of Audit Focus" section of this
report. We ask you to review these and any other matters in this report to ensure:
• There are no other considerations or matters that could have an  impact on these issues; and
• You agree with the resolution of the issues; and there are no other significant issues to be considered.
There are no matters, apart from those reported by management or disclosed in this report, which we believe should be brought to your attention.

Significant risk Findings & conclusions

Misstatement due to Fraud or Error – Posting
of investment journals

We have completed our testing and found no indications of management override of controls.

Other area of audit focus Findings & conclusions

Going concern We have completed our work, including review of the disclosure and challenge and testing of
management’s assessment and supporting cash flow forecast.

We are satisfied that it is an adequate reflection of management’s assessment that it remains
appropriate to prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis.

Valuation of private debt and infrastructure

investments

We undertook additional procedures, as described more fully in Section 2 of this report, to gain
material assurance over the year-end valuation of the Fund’s private debt and infrastructure
investments which are disclosed as level 3 in the fair value hierarchy and therefore inherently more
difficult to value.

There was a late adjustment to the valuations of Level 3 investment assets resulting in a £1.4m
understatement of the fund. Management have subsequently amended this.

P
age 27



8

Executive Summary

Independence
Please refer to Section 7 for our update on Independence.

There are no relationships from 1 April 2020 to the date of this report, which we consider may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and
objectivity.

Control observations

We have not identified any significant deficiencies in the design or operation of an internal control that might result in a material misstatement in your
financial statements and which is unknown to you.

Other reporting issues

We have no other matters to report.

P
age 28



9

Areas of Audit Focus02

P
age 29



10

Areas of Audit Focus

Significant risk
What is the risk?

The financial statements as a whole are not free of material misstatements whether caused by fraud or error. As
identified in ISA (UK) 240, management is in a unique position to perpetrate fraud because of its ability to manipulate
accounting records directly or indirectly and prepare fraudulent financial statements by overriding controls that
otherwise appear to be operating effectively.

We identify and respond to this fraud risk on every audit engagement.

We have considered where this risk manifests and we consider this to be in the manipulation of Investment income
and valuation of assets (see slide 11).

Misstatements due to fraud or error

What did we do?
To address this risk we confirm that we have performed the following procedures:
Ø We inquired of management about risks of fraud and the controls put in place to address those risks;
Ø We obtained an understanding the oversight given by those charged with governance of management’s processes over fraud;
Ø We considered the effectiveness of management’s controls designed to address the risk of fraud;
Ø We performed mandatory procedures regardless of specifically identified fraud risks, including;

Ø testing of journal entries and other adjustments in the preparation of the financial statements;
Ø reviewing accounting estimates for evidence of management bias; and
Ø evaluating the business rationale for significant unusual transactions.

Ø We utilised our data analytics capabilities to assist with our work, including journal entry testing; and
Ø We assessed journal entries for evidence of management bias and evaluate for business rationale.

What are our conclusions?

We have not identified any material weaknesses in controls or evidence of material management override.

We have not identified any instances of inappropriate judgements being applied.

We did not identify any other transactions during our audit which appeared unusual or outside the Fund‘s normal course of business.

P
age 30



11

Areas of Audit Focus

Significant risk
What is the risk?

As identified in ISA (UK and Ireland) 240, management is in a unique position to perpetrate fraud because of its ability
to manipulate accounting records directly or indirectly and prepare fraudulent financial statements by overriding
controls that otherwise appear to be operating effectively. We  identify and respond to this fraud risk on every audit
engagement.

What judgements are we focused on?

We assessed that the risk of manipulation of investment income and valuation through
management override of controls was most likely to affect investment income and assets in the
year, specifically through journal postings.

Risk of manipulation of Investment income
and valuation

What did we do?

Tested journals at year-end to ensure there are no unexpected or unusual postings;

Undertook a review of reconciliations to the fund manager and custodian reports and investigated
any reconciling differences;

Re-performed the detailed investment note using the reports we have acquired directly from the
custodians or fund managers, including the agreement of investment additions and disposals in the
year;

Sought to obtain further independent support for the valuation of pooled year-end investments
where this can be obtained;

Checked the reconciliation of holdings included in the Net Assets Statement back to the source
reports; and

Reviewed accounting estimates for evidence of management bias.

We utilised our data analytics capabilities to assist with our work, including journal entry testing.
We assessed journal entries for evidence of management bias and evaluated for business rationale.

What are our conclusions?

We have not identified any material weaknesses in controls or
evidence of material management override.

We have not identified any instances of inappropriate judgements
being applied.

We did not identify any other transactions during our audit which
appeared unusual or outside the Pension Fund’s normal course of
business.

P
age 31



12

Areas of Audit Focus

Area of audit focus
What is the risk?

We consider the valuation of Level 3 investments to be of a higher degree of inherent risk due to the unobservable
inputs making up the valuations. This involves a high degree of estimation from the fund manager as audited accounts
supporting the valuation are only produced up to Quarter 3 of the financial year.

Valuation of private debt and
infrastructure investments

What judgements are we focused? What are our conclusions?

We have noted that management made a late adjustment to the
financial statements to increase the value of Level 3 investments
by £1.4m.

This was to ensure the financial statements agreed to updated
information received from Private market investments.

No other issues noted.

The Fund’s private debt and infrastructure investments are categorised as being at level 3 in the
fair value hierarchy. This is due to the uncertainty associated with the valuation of such
investments and the absence of a liquid market, meaning that the valuations are not based on
observable inputs. As a result of this we undertook additional procedures to gain assurance over
the carrying value of these investments disclosed in the financial statements. We set our detailed
audit approach and findings on the following page.

P
age 32



13

Areas of Audit Focus

Area of audit focus

Valuation of level 3 investments - further details on procedures/work performed

We:
• Triangulated the valuation reports from the fund managers and custodians to the entries in the financial statements.
• Obtained audited financial statements supporting the investments, controls assurance reports and bridging letters for the controls reports to year end.
• Considered the work performed by the fund managers, including the adequacy of the scope of the work performed, their professional capabilities and the results of

their work.
• Challenged the key assumptions used by the fund managers in valuations and considered further whether specialist support is needed to support our work in this

area. We concluded no such further support was necessary.
• Tested accounting entries had been correctly processed in the financial statements.

Audited financial statements supporting valuations were only available to 31 December 2020. We evaluated those financial statements to gain assurance that:
• The audit report was not qualified or otherwise modified.
• The audit report did not contained material uncertainties in respect of going concern and that there were no other matters emphasised that would impact valuation.
• The audit report was issued by a reputable auditor.

We also evaluated controls assurance reports to gain assurance they were not qualified and there were no specific control failures that could impact the valuation of
investments.

To gain assurance over the valuation of level 3 investments at the Net Asset Statement date of 31 March 2021, we:
• Agreed the net asset value of private debt and infrastructure investments to underpinning audited financial statements as at 31 December. We then adjusted the 31

December 2020 valuation for known calls and puts in the final quarter of the year assuming they occurred at the start of the quarter.
• Used available quarter 3 to 4 indices relevant to the type of investment to create a high/low range of movements for quarter 4 and applied that to the valuation

derived for each investment. We confirmed that the range established was not greater than our performance materiality.
• We compared the valuation in the financial statements to the range established to gain assurance investments values in the financial statements were not materially

outside the expected range.

P
age 33



14

Areas of Audit Focus

Area of audit focus
What is the risk?

There is a presumption that the Fund will continue as a going concern for the foreseeable future. However, the Fund is
required to carry out a going concern assessment that is proportionate to the risks it faces. In light of the continued
impact of Covid-19 there is a need for the Fund to ensure it’s going concern assessment, including its cashflow
forecast, is thorough and appropriately comprehensive.

The Fund is required to ensure that its going concern disclosure within the statement of accounts adequately reflects
its going concern assessment and in particular highlights any uncertainties it has identified.

In addition, the auditing standard in relation to going concern (ISA570) has been revised with effect for the 2020/21
accounts audit.

What did we do and what judgements did we focus on?

We:
• Challenged management’s identification of events or conditions impacting going concern.
• Tested management’s resulting assessment of going concern by evaluating supporting evidence (including consideration of the risk of management bias).
• Reviewed the Fund’s cashflow forecast covering the foreseeable future, to ensure that it has sufficient liquidity to continue to operate as a going concern.
• Undertook a ‘stand back’ review to consider all of the evidence obtained, whether corroborative or contradictory, when we draw our conclusions on going concern.
• Challenged the disclosure made in the accounts in respect of going concern and any material uncertainties.

Going concern

What are our conclusions?

We are satisfied with management’s assessment that it is appropriate for the financial statements to be prepared on a going concern basis which is reasonable and
supported by evidence, including a cashflow forecast, for the foreseeable future.

We are also satisfied that the disclosure in the financial statements meets the requirements of the revised auditing standard.

P
age 34



15

Audit Report03

P
age 35



16

Audit Report

DRAFT INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THE LONDON BOROUGH OF MERTON

Conclusions relating to going concern
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the Director of
Corporate Services’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the
preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, individually or collectively,
may cast significant doubt on the authority’s ability to continue as a going
concern for a period of at least 12 months from when the financial statements
are authorised for issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Director of Corporate Services
with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of this
report.  However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted,
this statement is not a guarantee as to the authority’s ability to continue as a
going concern.

Other information
• The other information comprises the information included in the London

Bourgh of Merton Statement of Accounts 2020/21, other than the financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.  The Director of Corporate
Services is responsible for the other information contained within the
Statement of Accounts 2020/21.

• Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information
and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Opinion
We have audited the pension fund financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2021 under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. The pension
fund financial statements comprise the Fund Account, the Net Assets
Statement and the related notes 1 to 24. The financial reporting framework
that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and the
CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United
Kingdom 2020/21.

In our opinion the pension fund financial statements:
• give a true and fair view of the financial transactions of the pension fund

during the year ended 31 March 2021 and the amount and disposition of
the fund’s assets and liabilities as at 31 March 2021, and

• have been properly prepared in accordance with the CIPFA/LASAAC Code
of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2020/21.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on
Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit
of the financial statements section of our report below. We are independent of
the pension fund in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant
to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical
Standard and the Comptroller and Auditor General’s (C&AG) AGN01, and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Our opinion on the financial statements

P
age 36



17

Audit Report

DRAFT INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THE LONDON BOROUGH OF MERTON

Responsibility of the Director of Corporate Services
As explained more fully in the Statement of the Director of Corporate Services
Responsibilities set out on page 188, the Director of Corporate Services is
responsible for the preparation of the Authority’s Statement of Accounts, which
includes the pension fund financial statements, in accordance with proper
practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority
Accounting in the United Kingdom 2020/21, and for being satisfied that they give
a true and fair view and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Director of Corporate Services is
responsible for assessing the Pension Fund’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the Pension Fund either intends to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
financial statements.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies
or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether
there is a material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If,
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of the other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Matters on which we report by exception
We report to you if:
• we issue a report in the public interest under section 24 of the Local Audit
and Accountability Act 2014;
• we make written recommendations to the audited body under Section 24 of
the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014;
• we make an application to the court for a declaration that an item of account
is contrary to law under Section 28 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act
2014;
• we issue an advisory notice under Section 29 of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014; or
• we make an application for judicial review under Section 31 of the Local
Audit and Accountability Act 2014.

We have nothing to report in these respects

Our opinion on the financial statements

P
age 37



18

Audit Report

DRAFT INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THE LONDON BOROUGH OF MERTON

We assessed the susceptibility of the Pension Fund’s financial statements to
material misstatement, including how fraud might occur by understanding the
potential incentives and opportunities for management to manipulate the
financial statements, and performed procedures to understand the areas in which
this would most likely arise. Based on our risk assessment procedures we
identified the manipulation of investment income and valuation to be our fraud
risk.
To address our fraud risk we tested the consistency of the investment asset
valuation from the independent sources of the custodian and the fund managers
to the financial statements. We also undertook a review of reconciliations to the
fund manager and custodian reports and assessed journal entries for evidence of
management bias and evaluated for business rationale using specific criteria we
considered to be relevant to the risk. We evaluated significant transactions and
estimates for evidence of management bias.

In common with all audits under ISAs (UK), we are also required to perform
specific procedures to respond to the risk of  management override. In addressing
the risk of fraud through management override of controls, we tested the
appropriateness of journal entries and other adjustments; assessed whether the
judgements made in making accounting estimates are indicative of a potential
bias; and evaluated the business rationale of any identified significant
transactions that were unusual or outside the normal course of business.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements is located on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at
https://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.  This description forms part of
our auditor’s report.

Explanation as to what extent the audit was considered capable of detecting
irregularities, including fraud
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and
regulations. We design procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined
above, to detect irregularities, including fraud. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for
example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations, or through collusion. The
extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities,
including fraud is detailed below. However, the primary responsibility for the
prevention and detection of fraud rests with both those charged with
governance of the entity and management.

We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that are
applicable to the Pension Fund and determined that the most significant are
the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 (as amended), and
The Public Service Pensions Act 2013.

We understood how the London Borough of Merton Pension Fund is complying
with those frameworks by understanding the incentive, opportunities and
motives for non-compliance, including inquiring of management, internal audit
and those charged with governance and obtaining and reading documentation
relating to the procedures in place to identify, evaluate and comply with laws
and regulations, and whether they are aware of instances of non-compliance.
We corroborated this through our reading of minutes, review of policies and
other information. Based on this understanding we designed our audit
procedures to identify non-compliance with such laws and regulations. Our
procedures had a focus on compliance with the accounting framework through
obtaining sufficient audit evidence in line with the level of risk identified and
with relevant legislation.

Our opinion on the financial statements

P
age 38



19

Audit Report
DRAFT INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THE
LONDON BOROUGH OF MERTON

Use of our report
This report is made solely to the members of the London Borough of Merton,
as a body,  in accordance with Part 5 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act
2014 and for no other purpose, as set out in paragraph 43 of the Statement
of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies published by Public Sector
Audit Appointments Limited. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not
accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Authority and the
Authority’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the
opinions we have formed.

Our opinion on the financial statements

P
age 39



20

Audit Differences04

P
age 40



21

Audit Differences

In the normal course of any audit, we identify misstatements between amounts we believe should be recorded in the financial statements and the disclosures and
amounts actually recorded. These differences are classified as “known” or “judgemental”. Known differences represent items that can be accurately quantified and
relate to a definite set of facts or circumstances. Judgemental differences generally involve estimation and relate to facts or circumstances that are uncertain or open to
interpretation.

There were no audit differences greater than £6.8m which have been corrected by management or other specific misstatements identified during the course of our audit
which we wish to draw to your attention.

Two lower value audit differences above relating to amendments to valuation of investment assets, and a number of disclosure amendments were made as a result of
our work.

There were no uncorrected audit differences.

Summary of adjusted and uncorrected differences

P
age 41



22

Other reporting issues05 01

P
age 42



23

Consistency of other information published with the financial statements, including the Annual Governance Statement

We must give an opinion on the consistency of the financial and non-financial information in the London Borough of Merton Pension Fund Annual report
and the audited Financial Statements 2020/21 included within the London Borough of Merton Financial Statements 2020/21.

We are satisfied that the pension fund financial statements within the pension fund annual report with the pension fund financial statements in the
statement of accounts of the London Borough of Merton for the year ended 31 March 2021.

Our work in this area is ongoing.

Other reporting issues

Other powers and duties

We have a duty under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to consider whether to report on any matter that comes to our attention in the
course of the audit, either for the Authority to consider it or to bring it to the attention of the public (i.e. “a report in the public interest”). We also have
a duty to make written recommendations to the Authority, copied to the Secretary of State, and take action in accordance with our responsibilities
under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. We have had no reason to exercise these duties.

Other matters

As required by ISA (UK&I) 260 and other ISAs specifying communication requirements, we must tell you significant findings from the audit and other
matters if they are significant to your oversight of the Fund’s financial reporting process. We have no matters to report.

P
age 43



24

Assessment of Control
Environment06

P
age 44



25

Assessment of Control Environment

Financial controls

It is the responsibility of the Fund to develop and implement systems of internal financial control and to put in place proper arrangements to monitor
their adequacy and effectiveness in practice. Our responsibility as your auditor is to consider whether the Fund has put adequate arrangements in
place to satisfy itself that the systems of internal financial control are both adequate and effective in practice.

As part of our audit of the financial statements, we obtained an understanding of internal control sufficient to plan our audit and determine the nature,
timing and extent of testing performed. As we have adopted a fully substantive approach, we have therefore not tested the operation of controls.
Although our audit was not designed to express an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control we are required to communicate to you significant
deficiencies in internal control.

We have not identified any significant deficiencies in internal control.

P
age 45



26

Independence07

P
age 46



27

Relationships, services and related threats and safeguards

The FRC Ethical Standard requires that we provide details of all relationships between Ernst & Young (EY) and the Fund, and its members and senior
management and its affiliates, including all services provided by us and our network to the Fund, its members and senior management and its affiliates,
and other services provided to other known connected parties that we consider may reasonably be thought to bear on the our integrity or objectivity,
including those that could compromise independence and the related safeguards that are in place and why they address the threats.
There are no relationships from 1 April 2020 to the date of this report, which we consider may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and
objectivity.

Services provided by Ernst & Young

The table below sets out a summary of the fees that you have paid to us in the year ended 31 March 2021 in line with the disclosures set out in FRC
Ethical Standard and in statute.
As at the date of this report, there are no future services which have been contracted and no written proposal to provide non-audit services has been
submitted.

Planned fee 20/21 Final Fee 2019/20

£ £

Scale Fee – Code work  (1) 16,170 16,170

Significant risk relating to US currency hedge - 2,250

Going concern and PBSE assessments and disclosures including EY consultations (2) 2,000 – 6,000 5,500

IAS 19 work on the 2019 triennial valuation of the Fund (3) 5,500 9,000

Total TBC 32,920

All fees exclude VAT

1. We remain in discussion with PSAA about increasing the scale fee to reflect the additional work auditors are required to do to meet regulatory

requirements. In our view the scale fee for the Merton PF audit should be increased by £28,290.

2. The 2019/20 additional fees have been agreed with management but are subject to PSAA approval.

3. IAS19 work is to provide assurance to the auditor of the LB Merton. These additional fees are not subject to approval from PSAA and for

2019/20 (where there was additional work on the triennial data) we have agreed fees with management.

P
age 47



28

Independence

EY Transparency Report 2020

Ernst & Young (EY) has policies and procedures that instil professional values as part of firm culture and ensure that the highest standards of objectivity, independence
and integrity are maintained.
Details of the key policies and processes in place within EY for maintaining objectivity and independence can be found in our annual Transparency Report which the firm
is required to publish by law. The most recent version of this Report is for the year end 30 June 2020:
EY UK Transparency Report 2020 | EY UK

Other communications

P
age 48



29

Appendices08

P
age 49



30

Appendix A

Audit approach update
We summarise below our approach to the audit of the net asset statement and any changes to this approach from the prior year audit.

Our audit procedures are designed to be responsive to our assessed risk of material misstatement at the relevant assertion level. Assertions relevant to the balance
sheet include:

• Existence: An asset, liability and equity interest exists at a given date

• Rights and Obligations: An asset, liability and equity interest pertains to the entity at a given date

• Completeness: There are no unrecorded assets, liabilities, and equity interests, transactions or events, or undisclosed items

• Valuation: An asset, liability and equity interest is recorded at an appropriate amount and any resulting valuation or allocation adjustments are appropriately
recorded

• Presentation and Disclosure: Assets, liabilities and equity interests are appropriately aggregated or disaggregated, and classified, described and disclosed
in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework. Disclosures are relevant and understandable in the context of the applicable financial reporting
framework

There were no significant changes to our audit approach, but we did undertake more granular procedures to gain assurance over the valuation of both level 3
investments and the IAS 26 disclosure of the actuarial present value of promised retirement benefits disclosed as a note to the accounts.

P
age 50



31

Appendix B

Summary of communications

In addition to the above specific meetings and letters the audit team met with the management team multiple times throughout the audit to discuss audit findings.

Date Nature Summary

March 2021 Meeting Agreement of the significant risks, planned scope, timing of the audit and indicative audit plan with the Director of
Corporate Services.

September 2021 Meeting Discussion regarding the key findings from our audit of the financial statements and agreement of the audit results
report with the Assistant Director of Resources.

Throughout the
year

Meetings, calls and
emails.

The Associate Partner and Senior Manager has been in regular contact with the Director of Corporate Services and the in
respect of the Fund’s risks, accounts closedown and the audit approach.

Throughout the
year

Meetings, calls and
emails.

The Associate Partner has met the Director of Corporate Services on an ad hoc basis throughout the year to discuss key
audit findings and reporting up to the date of issue of this report.

Additionally two meetings were held to facilitate the handover of the engagement to the new Associate Partner and
Senior Manager.

All Standards and
General Purposes
Committee
meetings held in
the year

Committee
attendance

The Associate Partner and/or Senior Manager have attended those meetings of the Standards and General Purposes
Committee held throughout the financial year and to the date of issue of this report.

Specific reports issued and communications with the Committee are detailed in Appendix C.

P
age 51



32

Appendix C

Required communications with the Standards and General Purposes
Committee
There are certain communications that we must provide to the audit committees of UK clients. We have detailed these here together with a reference of when and where
they were covered:

Our Reporting to you

Required communications What is reported? When and where

Terms of engagement Confirmation by the Standards and General Purposes Committee of acceptance of terms of
engagement as written in the engagement letter signed by both parties.

The statement of responsibilities serves as the
formal terms of engagement between the
PSAA’s appointed auditors and audited bodies

Our responsibilities Reminder of our responsibilities as set out in the engagement letter. Audit Plan – dated February 2021

Planning and audit
approach

Communication of the planned scope and timing of the audit, any limitations and the
significant risks identified.

Audit Plan – dated February 2021

Significant findings
from the audit

• Our view about the significant qualitative aspects of accounting practices including
accounting policies, accounting estimates and financial statement disclosures

• Significant difficulties, if any, encountered during the audit
• Significant matters, if any, arising from the audit that were discussed with management
• Written representations that we are seeking
• Expected modifications to the audit report
• Other matters if any, significant to the oversight of the financial reporting process

Audit Results Report – dated September 2021

P
age 52



33

Appendix C
Our Reporting to you

Required communications What is reported? When and where

Going concern Events or conditions identified that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s ability
to continue as a going concern, including:
• Whether the events or conditions constitute a material uncertainty
• Whether the use of the going concern assumption is appropriate in the preparation

and presentation of the financial statements
• The adequacy of related disclosures in the financial statements

No conditions or events were identified, either
individually or together to raise any doubt
about Merton Pension Fund’s ability to
continue for the 12 months from the date of
our report

Misstatements • Uncorrected misstatements and their effect on our audit opinion
• The effect of uncorrected misstatements related to prior periods
• A request that any uncorrected misstatement be corrected
• Material misstatements corrected by management

Audit Results Report – September 2021

Subsequent events • Enquiry of the Standards and General Purposes Committee where appropriate regarding
whether any subsequent events have occurred that might affect the financial
statements.

Audit Results Report – September 2021 and
up to date of our report.

Fraud • Enquiries of the Standards and General Purposes Committee to determine whether they
have knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud affecting the Pension Fund

• Any fraud that we have identified or information we have obtained that indicates that a
fraud may exist

• Unless all of those charged with governance are involved in managing the Fund, any
identified or suspected fraud involving:
a. Management;
b. Employees who have significant roles in internal control; or
c. Others where the fraud results in a material misstatement in the financial statements.

• The nature, timing and extent of audit procedures necessary to complete the audit when
fraud involving management is suspected

• Any other matters related to fraud, relevant to Standards and General Purposes
Committee responsibility.

Audit Results Report – September 2021

P
age 53



34

Appendix C

Our Reporting to you

Required communications What is reported? When and where

Related parties Significant matters arising during the audit in connection with the Fund’s related parties
including, when applicable:
• Non-disclosure by management
• Inappropriate authorisation and approval of transactions
• Disagreement over disclosures
• Non-compliance with laws and regulations
• Difficulty in identifying the party that ultimately controls the Pension Fund

Audit Results Report – September 2021

Independence Communication of all significant facts and matters that bear on EY’s, and all individuals
involved in the audit, objectivity and independence.
Communication of key elements of the audit engagement partner’s consideration of
independence and objectivity such as:
• The principal threats
• Safeguards adopted and their effectiveness
• An overall assessment of threats and safeguards
• Information about the general policies and process within the firm to maintain objectivity

and independence
Communications whenever significant judgments are made about threats to objectivity and
independence and the appropriateness of safeguards put in place.
For public interest entities and listed companies, communication of minimum requirements
as detailed in the FRC Revised Ethical Standard 2019:
• Relationships between EY, the company and senior management, its affiliates and its

connected parties
• Services provided by EY that may reasonably bear on the auditors’ objectivity and

independence
• Related safeguards
• Fees charged by EY analysed into appropriate categories such as statutory audit fees,

tax advisory fees, other non-audit service fees
• A statement of compliance with the Ethical Standard, including any non-EY firms or

external experts used in the audit

Audit Plan – dated February 2021 and
Audit Results Report – September 2021P

age 54



35

Appendix C

Our Reporting to you

Required communications What is reported? When and where

• Details of any inconsistencies between the Ethical Standard and the Fund’s policy for the
provision of non-audit services, and any apparent breach of that policy

• Details of any contingent fee arrangements for non-audit services
• Where EY has determined it is appropriate to apply more restrictive rules than permitted

under the Ethical Standard
• The audit committee should also be provided an opportunity to discuss matters affecting

auditor independence

External confirmations • Management’s refusal for us to request confirmations
• Inability to obtain relevant and reliable audit evidence from other procedures.

We have received all requested confirmations

Consideration of laws
and regulations

• Subject to compliance with applicable regulations, matters involving identified or
suspected non-compliance with laws and regulations, other than those which are clearly
inconsequential and the implications thereof. Instances of suspected non-compliance
may also include those that are brought to our attention that are expected to occur
imminently or for which there is reason to believe that they may occur

• Enquiry of the audit committee into possible instances of non-compliance with laws and
regulations that may have a material effect on the financial statements and that the
audit committee may be aware of

We have asked management and those
charged with governance. We have not
identified any material instances or non-
compliance with laws and regulations

Significant deficiencies in
internal controls identified
during the audit

• Significant deficiencies in internal controls identified during the audit. Audit Results Report – September 2021

P
age 55



36

Appendix C

Our Reporting to you

Required communications What is reported? When and where

Written representations
we are requesting from
management and/or those
charged with governance

• Written representations we are requesting from management and/or those charged with
governance

Audit Results Report – September 2021

Material inconsistencies or
misstatements of fact
identified in other
information which
management has refused
to revise

• Material inconsistencies or misstatements of fact identified in other information which
management has refused to revise

Audit Results Report – September 2021

Auditors report • Any circumstances identified that affect the form and content of our auditor’s report Audit Results Report – September 2021

Fee Reporting • Breakdown of fee information when the  audit planning report is agreed
• Breakdown of fee information at the completion of the audit
• Any non-audit work

Audit Plan – dated February 2021 and
Audit Results Report – September 2021

P
age 56



37

Appendix D

Draft management representation letter

3. We acknowledge, as members of management of the Fund, our responsibility
for the fair presentation of the financial statements.  We believe the financial
statements referred to above give a true and fair view of the financial position
and the financial performance of the Fund in accordance with the CIPFA LASAAC
Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2020/21,
and are free of material misstatements, including omissions.  We have approved
the financial statements.
4. The significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial
statements are appropriately described in the financial statements.
5. As members of management of the Fund, we believe that the Fund has a
system of internal controls adequate to enable the preparation of accurate
financial statements in accordance with the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on
Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2020/21 that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. We have disclosed to you
any significant changes in our processes, controls, policies and procedures that
we have made to address the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on our system of
internal controls.
6. There are no unadjusted audit differences identified during the current audit
and pertaining to the latest period presented.

B. Non-compliance with laws and regulations including fraud
1. We acknowledge that we are responsible for determining that the Fund’s
activities are conducted in accordance with laws and regulations and that we are
responsible for identifying and addressing any non-compliance with applicable
laws and regulations, including fraud.
2. We acknowledge that we are responsible for the design, implementation and
maintenance of internal controls to prevent and detect fraud.
3. We have disclosed to you the results of our assessment of the risk that the
financial statements may be materially misstated as a result of fraud.
4. We have not made any reports to The Pensions Regulator, nor are we aware of
any such reports having been made by any of our advisors.

This letter of representations is provided in connection with your audit of the
financial statements of the London Borough of Merton Pension Fund (“the
Fund”) for the year ended 31 March 2021. We recognise that obtaining
representations from us concerning the information contained in this letter is
a significant procedure in enabling you to form an opinion as to whether the
financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial transactions of
the Fund during the period from 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021 and of the
amount and disposition of the Fund’s assets and liabilities as at 31 March
20121, other than liabilities to pay pensions and benefits after the end of the
period, have been properly prepared in accordance with the CIPFA/LASAAC
Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom
2020/21.

We understand that the purpose of your audit of the Fund’s financial
statements is to express an opinion thereon and that your audit was
conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK), which
involves an examination of the accounting system, internal control and related
data to the extent you considered necessary in the circumstances, and is not
designed to identify - nor necessarily be expected to disclose – all fraud,
shortages, errors and other irregularities, should any exist.
Accordingly, we make the following representations, which are true to the
best of our knowledge and belief, having made such inquiries as we considered
necessary for the purpose of appropriately informing ourselves:

A.  Financial Statements and Financial Records
1. We have fulfilled our responsibilities, under the relevant statutory
authorities, for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with
[the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 and CIPFA LASAAC Code of
Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2020/21.
2. We confirm that the Fund is a Registered Pension Scheme. We are not
aware of any reason why the tax status of the scheme should change.

Management Rep Letter

P
age 57



38

Appendix D

Draft management representation letter

3. All material transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and all
material transactions, events and conditions are reflected in the financial
statements, including those related to the COVID-19 pandemic.
4. We have made available to you all minutes of the meetings of members of the
management of the Fund and committees of members of the management of the
Fund held throughout 2020/21 to the most recent meeting.
5. We confirm the completeness of information provided regarding the
identification of related parties. We have disclosed to you the identity of the
Fund’s related parties and all related party relationships and transactions of
which we are aware, including sales, purchases, loans, transfers of assets,
liabilities and services, leasing arrangements, guarantees, non-monetary
transactions and transactions for no consideration for the period ended, as well
as related balances due to or from such parties at the period end.  These
transactions have been appropriately accounted for and disclosed in the financial
statements.
6. We confirm the completeness of information provided regarding annuities held
in the name of the members of the management of the Fund.
7. We have disclosed to you, and the Fund has complied with, all aspects of
contractual agreements that could have a material effect on the financial
statements in the event of non-compliance, including all covenants, conditions or
other requirements of all outstanding debt.
8. No transactions have been made which are not in the interests of the Fund
members or the Fund during the fund year or subsequently.
9. We believe that the methods, significant assumptions and the data we used in
making accounting estimates and related disclosures are appropriate and
consistently applied to achieve recognition, measurement and disclosure that is in
accordance with CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting
in the United Kingdom 2020/21.

5. There have been no other communications with The Pensions Regulator or
other regulatory bodies during the Fund year or subsequently concerning
matters of noncompliance with any legal duty.
6. We have no knowledge of any identified or suspected non-compliance with
laws or regulations, including fraud that may have affected the Fund
(regardless of the source or form and including without limitation, any
allegations by “whistleblowers”), including non-compliance matters:
• Involving financial improprieties
• Related to laws or regulations that have a direct effect on the determination
of material amounts and disclosures in the Fund’s financial statements
• Related to laws and regulations that have an indirect effect on amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements, but compliance with which may be
fundamental to the operations of the Fund, its ability to continue, or to avoid
material penalties
• Involving management, or employees who have significant roles in internal
control, or others
• In relation to any allegations of fraud, suspected fraud or other non-
compliance with laws and regulations communicated by employees, former
employees, analysts, regulators or others.

C. Information Provided and Completeness of Information and Transactions
1. We have provided you with:
• Access to all information of which we are aware that is relevant to the
preparation of the financial statements such as records, documentation and
other matters.
• Additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of
the audit.
• Unrestricted access to persons within the entity from whom you determined
it necessary to obtain audit evidence.
2. You have been informed of all changes to the Fund rules.

Management Rep Letter

P
age 58



39

Appendix D

Draft management representation letter

G. Other information
1. We acknowledge our responsibility for the preparation of the other
information. The other information comprises the London Borough of Merton
Pension Fund Annual Report 2020-21.
2. We confirm that the content contained within the other information is
consistent with the financial statements.

H. Independence
1. We confirm that, under section 27 of the Pensions Act 1995, no members of
the management of the Fund of the Scheme is connected with, or is an associate
of, Ernst & Young LLP which would render Ernst & Young LLP ineligible to act as
auditor to the Scheme.

I. Derivative Financial Instruments
1.  We confirm that all investments in derivative financial instruments have been
made after due consideration by the members of the management of the Fund of
the limitations in their use imposed by The LGPS Management and Investment of
Funds Regulations 2016. The Fund’s Investment Strategy Statement has been
duly reviewed to ensure that such investments comply with any limitations
imposed by its provisions. The financial statements disclose all transactions in
derivative financial instruments that have been entered into during the period,
those still held by the members of the management of the Fund at the Fund’s year
end and the terms and conditions relating thereto.
2. Management has duly considered and deemed as appropriate the assumptions
and methodologies used in the valuation of ‘over the counter’ derivative financial
instruments which the Fund is holding, and these have been communicated to
you.

10. From the date of our last management representation letter at 5
November 2020 through the date of this letter we have disclosed to you any
unauthorized access to our information technology systems that either
occurred or to the best of our knowledge is reasonably likely to have occurred
based on our investigation, including of reports submitted to us by third
parties (including regulatory agencies, law enforcement agencies and security
consultants),  to the extent that such unauthorized access to our information
technology systems is reasonably likely to have a material impact to the
financial statements, in each case or in the aggregate.

D. Liabilities and Contingencies
1. All liabilities and contingencies, including those associated with guarantees,
whether written or oral, have been disclosed to you and are appropriately
reflected in the financial statements.
2. We have informed you of all outstanding and possible litigation and claims,
whether or not they have been discussed with legal counsel.
3. We have recorded and/or disclosed, as appropriate, all liabilities related to
litigation and claims, both actual and contingent, and have disclosed in Note
24 to the financial statements all guarantees that we have given to third
parties.

E. Going Concern
1. Note 2.1 to the financial statements discloses all the matters of which we
are aware that are relevant to the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern, including significant conditions and events, our plans for future
action, and the feasibility of those plans.

F. Subsequent Events
1. Other than described in Note 6 to the financial statements, there have been
no events, including events related to the COVID-19 pandemic, subsequent to
period end which require adjustment of or disclosure in the financial
statements or notes thereto.

Management Rep Letter

P
age 59



40

Appendix D

Draft management representation letter

2. We believe that the selection or application of the methods, assumptions and
data used by us have been consistently and appropriately applied or used in
making the fair value hierarchy level 3 investment asset valuation estimate.
3. We confirm that the significant assumptions used in making the fair value
hierarchy level 3 investment asset estimate appropriately reflect our intent and
ability to carry out the valuation on behalf of the entity.
4. We confirm that the disclosures made in the financial statements with respect
to the accounting estimate(s), including those describing estimation uncertainty
and the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on the valuation of fair value hierarchy
level 3 investment assets, are complete and are reasonable in the context of the
CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United
Kingdom 2020/21.
5. We confirm that appropriate specialised skills or expertise has been applied in
making the valuation of fair value hierarchy level 3 investment asset estimate.
6. We confirm that no adjustments are required to the accounting estimates and
disclosures in the financial statements, including due to the COVID-19 pandemic.

N. Estimation of IAS26 present value of promised retirement benefits
1. We confirm that the significant judgments made in making the IAS26 estimate
have taken into account all relevant information and the effects of the COVID-19
pandemic on the present value of promised retirement benefits of which we are
aware.
2. We believe that the selection or application of the methods, assumptions and
data used by us have been consistently and appropriately applied or used in
making the IAS26 estimate.
3. We confirm that the significant assumptions used in making the IAS 26
estimate appropriately reflect our intent and ability to carry out the valuation on
behalf of the entity.
_______________________
Caroline Holland, Director of Corporate Services
_______________________
Councilor Peter McCabe, Chair of the Standards and General Purposes Committee

J. Pooling investments, including the use of collective investment vehicles
and shared services
1. We confirm that all investments in pooling arrangements, including the use
of collective investment vehicles and shared services, meet the criteria set out
in the November 2015 investment reform and criteria guidance and that the
requirements of the LGPS Management and Investment of Funds Regulations
2016 in respect of these investments has been followed.

K. Actuarial valuation
1. The latest report of the actuary Barnett Waddingham as at 31 March 2019
and dated 27 March 2020 has been provided to you.  To the best of our
knowledge and belief we confirm that the information supplied by us to the
actuary was true and that no significant information was omitted which may
have a bearing on his report.

L. Use of the Work of a Specialist
1. We agree with the findings of the specialists that we have engaged to value
the fund and have adequately considered the qualifications of the specialists in
determining the amounts and disclosures included in the financial statements
and the underlying accounting records. We did not give or cause any
instructions to be given to the specialists with respect to the values or
amounts derived in an attempt to bias their work, and we are not otherwise
aware of any matters that have had an effect on the independence or
objectivity of the specialists.

M. Valuation of Fair Value Hierarchy Level 3 Investment Assets Estimate
1. We confirm that the significant judgments made in making the fair value
hierarchy level 3 investment asset valuation estimate have taken into account
all relevant information and the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on the
valuation of fair value hierarchy level 3 investment assets of which we are
aware.

Management Rep Letter

P
age 60



EY  |  Assurance | Tax | Transactions | Advisory

About EY
EY is a global leader in assurance, tax, transaction and advisory
services. The insights and quality services we deliver help build
trust and confidence in the capital markets and in economies the
world over. We develop outstanding leaders who team to deliver
on our promises to all of our stakeholders. In so doing, we play a
critical role in building a better working world for our people, for
our clients and for our communities.
EY refers to the global organization, and may refer to one or
more, of the member firms of Ernst & Young Global Limited, each
of which is a separate legal entity. Ernst & Young Global Limited, a
UK company limited by guarantee, does not provide services to
clients. For more information about our organization, please visit
ey.com.

© 2017 EYGM Limited.
All Rights Reserved.

ED None

This material has been prepared for general informational purposes only and is not
intended to be relied upon as accounting, tax, or other professional advice. Please refer
to your advisors for specific advice.

ey.com

P
age 61



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Merton Pension 
Fund
Outline Audit Plan 

Year ended 31 March 2022

24 February 2022

P
age 63



2

Private and Confidential 24 February 2022 

Merton Pension Fund

Standards and General Purposes Committee

Civic Centre

Morden

SM4 5DX

Dear Committee Members

Outline Audit Plan

We are pleased to attach our Outline Audit Plan for Merton Pension Fund. Its purpose is to provide the Standards and General Purposes 
Committee with an overview of our plans and fee for the 2021/22 audit before detailed work commences. 

This report summarises our initial assessment of the key issues which drive the development of an effective audit for Merton pension Fund. 
Due to the late completion of our 2020/21 audit, we have not yet completed our detailed planning procedures. We will provide a more detailed 
and comprehensive audit plan for the Committee at the next meeting, or circulate the plan separately if Members prefer. This report sets out 
the areas which we consider will be a focus for our 2021/22 plan.

Our audit is undertaken in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014, the National Audit Office’s 2020 
Code of Audit Practice, the Statement of Responsibilities issued by Public Sector Audit Appointments (PSAA) Ltd, auditing standards and other 
professional requirements.

We welcome the opportunity to discuss this report with you as well as understand whether there are other matters which you consider may 
influence our audit.

Yours faithfully 

Elizabeth Jackson, Associate Partner
For and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP
Encl

P
age 64



3

Contents

Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA) issued the “Statement of responsibilities of auditors and audited bodies”. It is available from the PSAA website (https://www.psaa.co.uk/audit-quality/statement-
of-responsibilities/).The Statement of responsibilities serves as the formal terms of engagement between appointed auditors and audited bodies. It summarises where the different responsibilities of auditors 
and audited bodies begin and end, and what is to be expected of the audited body in certain areas. 

The “Terms of Appointment and further guidance (updated April 2018)” issued by the PSAA sets out additional requirements that auditors must comply with, over and above those set out in the National Audit 
Office Code of Audit Practice (the Code) and in legislation, and covers matters of practice and procedure which are of a recurring nature.

This report is made solely to the Standards and General Purposes Committee and management of Merton Pension Fund in accordance with the statement of responsibilities. Our work has been undertaken so 
that we might state to the Standards and General Purposes Committee, and management of Merton Pension Fund those matters we are required to state to them in this report and for no other purpose. To the 
fullest extent permitted by law we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than to the Standards and General Purposes Committee, and management of the Merton Pension Fund for this report 
or for the opinions we have formed. It should not be provided to any third-party without our prior written consent.

2021/22 Audit01 Fees02

P
age 65

https://www.psaa.co.uk/audit-quality/statement-of-responsibilities/


4

2021/22 Audit01 01

P
age 66



5

2021/22 Audit

Wider public sector audit context

Recognising the increasing pressure on all auditors in the current climate the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLHUC) and CIPFA/LASAAC have 
both published papers relating to audit firms and timely completion of audits. 

The DLHUC paper published in December 2021 sets out a range of measures agreed with key partners to support the timely completion of local government audits and 
the ongoing stability of the local audit market. It makes the following commitments: 

1. FRC to publish updated Key Audit Partner (KAP) guidance by spring 2022, including new routes for an experienced Registered Individual to become a KAP;

2. Work with CIPFA to further develop the proposal for a new local audit training diploma in local government financial reporting and management aimed at different 
levels of auditor, and a new technical advisory service that could provide support to firms, and in particular new entrants;

3. DLUHC to provide further funding of £45 million over the course of next Spending Review period to support local bodies with the costs of strengthening their 
financial reporting, new burdens related to appointment of independent members and other Redmond recommendations and increased auditing requirements;

4. CIPFA to publish strengthened guidance on audit committees by April 2022. The guidance will emphasise the role that audit committees should have in ensuring 
accounts are prepared to a high standard, alongside broader changes including appointment of independent members. Following consultation, consider making the 
guidance, committees and the independent member statutory;

5. DLUHC to provide via the Local Government Association sector grant for a number of targeted training events for audit committee chairs;

6. NAO rolling over of amendments to 20/21 AGN 03 and 07 to allow for altering the timing of elements on the VfM arrangements work and enable more focus on fully 
delivering opinions on the financial statements;

7. CIPFA/LASAAC is undertaking a project to improve the presentation of local authority accounts to inform the development of the 2022/23 Accounting Code and 
comply with IFRS and statutory accounting principles HMT to undertake thematic review of financial reporting valuations for non-investment properties to inform 
development of the Accounting Code from 2022/23 onwards;

8. The government has asked CIPFA/LASAAC to consider the merits of a time-limited change to the Accounting Code for 2021/22;

9. Delaying implementation of standardised statements and associated audit requirements;

10. PSAA to progress their proposed procurement strategy for the next round of local audit contracts from 2023/24;

11. Extending the deadline for publishing audited local authority accounts to 30 November 2022 for 2021/22 accounts, then 30 September for 6 years, beginning with 
the 2022/23 accounts;

12. NAO to prepare for a re-laying of the Code of Audit Practice 2020 in parliament, so that it will apply for the whole of the next appointing period; and

13. Developing an industry-led workforce strategy, working with the system leader and audit firms, to consider the future pipeline of local audits, and associated 
questions related to training and qualifications.

P
age 67



6

2021/22 Audit

2021/22 financial statements audit

Planning for 2021/22
We have met the Director of Corporate Services, the Assistant Director of Resources and members of the finance team regularly through December 2021 and January 
2022 to discuss the conclusion of our 2020/21 audit.

We have commenced our initial planning work for the 2021/22 audit and have met with the Chief Executive, the Director of Corporate Services and Assistant Director of 
Resources. We have arranged regular liaison meetings throughout the year to inform our continuous audit planning and have held an initial kick off meeting with officers 
to discuss key points from the prior year, incorporating the learning from the 2020/21 audit.

For 2021/22, the timetable as published in the draft Accounts and Audit (Amendment) regulations 2021 extends the publication date for audited local authority 
accounts from 31 July to 30 November 2022. 

Due to the ongoing impact of later deadlines and completion of audits from 2020/21, we have yet to start our planning for the 2021/22 audit. We set out in this report 
our initial considerations of the risks for the audit – these are broadly similar to those identified in 2020/21. We will update these risks as our planning progresses and 
take into account the risks suggested by the NAO in the Auditor Guidance Note 06 – Local Government Audit Planning, which has not yet been released for 2021/22.

2021/22 financial statements audit

The CIPFA/LASAAC paper explores proposals for change to the 2021/22 Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom and the 2022/23 code 
that might serve to improve current issues around timeliness of the publication of audited financial statements. Two key proposals of this report include: 

1. To allow local authorities to pause professional valuations for operational property, plant and equipment for a period of up to two years (though the initial proposal is 
for the 2021/22 financial year); this approach also explores the use of an index to be used to increase or reduce that valuation; and

2. To defer the implementation of IFRS 16 Leases (standard) for a further year and not make the planned changes to the 2022/23 code to implement that standard.

This paper is currently undergoing consultation.

Neither of these proposed changes directly impact on the Pension Fund financial statements but are key considerations for the Authority’s financial statements.

P
age 68



7

2021/22 Audit

Materiality

Our application of materiality

When establishing our overall audit strategy, we determine the magnitude of 
uncorrected misstatements that we judge would be material for the financial 
statements as a whole.

These figures will be updated upon receipt of the draft 2021/22 financial statements. 

Planning
materiality

£9.0m

Performance 
materiality

£6.8m

Audit
differences

£0.45m

For planning purposes, planning materiality for 2021/22 
has been set at £9.0 million, which represents 1.0% of 
the prior year net assets of the pension fund.

Performance materiality is the amount we use to 
determine the extent of our audit procedures. We have 
set performance materiality at £6.8 million which 
represents 75% of planning materiality and is in line with 
the prior year. 

We will report to you all uncorrected misstatements 
relating to the fund account and net asset statement that 
are greater than £0.45 million. Other misstatements 
identified will be communicated to the extent that they 
merit the attention of the Standards and General 
Purposes Committee.

Net Assets

£900.3m

We consider net assets to be one of the principal 
considerations for stakeholders in assessing the 
financial performance of the Fund.

Purpose and evaluation of materiality

For the purposes of determining whether the accounts are free from material 
error, we define materiality as the magnitude of an omission or misstatement 
that, individually or in the aggregate, in light of the surrounding 
circumstances, could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of the users of the financial statements. 

Our evaluation of it requires professional judgement and necessarily takes into 
account qualitative as well as quantitative considerations implicit in the 
definition. We would be happy to discuss with you your expectations regarding 
our detection of misstatements in the financial statements. Materiality 
determines the locations at which we conduct audit procedures to support the 
opinion given on the financial statements; and the level of work performed on 
individual account balances and financial statement disclosures. 

The amount we consider material at the end of the audit may differ from our 
initial determination. At this stage, however, it is not feasible to anticipate all 
of the circumstances that may ultimately influence our judgement about 
materiality. 

At the end of the audit we will form our final opinion by reference to all 
matters that could be significant to users of the accounts, including the total 
effect of the audit misstatements we identify, and our evaluation of materiality 
at that date.

P
age 69



8

Overview of 2021/22 audit strategy

Audit risks and areas of focus

Risk / area of focus Risk identified Change from PY Details

Misstatement due to Fraud or Error –
Posting of investment journals

Fraud risk / 
Significant risk

No change in risk 
or focus

As identified in ISA (UK) 240, management is in a unique position to perpetrate 
fraud because of its ability to manipulate accounting records directly or indirectly 
and prepare fraudulent financial statements by overriding controls that 
otherwise appear to be operating effectively. 

There is a specific risk that, due to fraud or error, investment journals posted into 
the general ledger are incorrect, which could result in a misstatement of year-
end investment value and/or investment income.

Going concern disclosure Inherent risk
No change in risk or 

focus

The financial landscape for the Fund’s admitted and scheduled bodies remains 
challenging and as a result, the Fund will need to undertake a going concern 
assessment covering a period up to 12 months from the expected date of final 
authorisation. 

It will also need to make an appropriate disclosure in the financial statements. In 
addition, the revised auditing standard on going concern requires additional 
challenge from auditors on the assertions being made by management.

Valuation of private debt and 
infrastructure investments

Inherent risk
No change in risk or 

focus

The Fund holds a material value of private debt and infrastructure investments 
which are not publicly quoted, categorised as level 3 in the fair value hierarchy 
and inherently harder to value. 

Valuation of these assets may also be made more difficult because of the ongoing 
impact on markets of Covid-19. We will keep the need to consider this as an area 
of audit focus under ongoing review.

The following ‘dashboard’ summarises the significant accounting and auditing matters outlined in this report. It seeks to provide the Standards and General 
Purposes Committee with an overview of our initial risk identification for the upcoming audit and any changes in risks identified in the current year.  

P
age 70



9

Fees02 01

P
age 71



10

Fees

Fees

The duty to prescribe fees is a statutory function delegated to Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA) by the Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local 
Government.  

This is defined as the fee required by auditors to meet statutory responsibilities under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 in accordance with the requirements of 
the Code of Audit Practice and supporting guidance published by the National Audit Office, the financial reporting requirements set out in the Code of Practice on Local 
Authority Accounting published by CIPFA/LASAAC, and the professional standards applicable to auditors’ work.

The table sets out our expected fees for 2020/21 and 2021/22. However, these figures could change, and need to be agreed with officers and the PSAA. 

All fees exclude VAT

Planned fee 2021/22 Planned fee 2020/21 Final Fee 2019/20

£ £ £

Scale Fee – Code work  (1) 16,170 16,170 16,170

Planned recurrent fee variation reflecting the underlying level of additional risk at the Authority 
yet to be agreed by the Authority or PSAA (See Note 1)

28,290 28,290 9,900

Going concern and PBSE assessments and disclosures including EY consultations (2) TBC 2,000 – 6,000 2,900

IAS 19 work on the 2019 triennial valuation of the Fund (3) TBC 5,500 9,000

Total TBC TBC 37,970

1. We remain in discussion with PSAA about increasing the scale fee to reflect the additional work auditors are required to do to meet regulatory requirements. In our 
view the scale fee for the Merton PF audit should be increased by £28,290. For 2019/20 PSAA determined additional fees of £9,900 in relation to this.

2. The 2019/20 additional fees have been agreed with management and approved by PSAA.

3. IAS19 work is to provide assurance to the auditor of the LB Merton. These additional fees are not subject to approval from PSAA and for 2019/20 (where there was 
additional work on the triennial data) we have agreed fees with management.

P
age 72



Challenges and Change for the Pensions Shared Service

Martin Doyle – Head of Pensions Shared Service 

P
age 73

A
genda Item

 6



Pensions Shared Service

working for LGPS 
members in
Camden 

Merton

Richmond

Waltham Forest

Wandsworth

Around 28,000 
active members

More than 230 
employers

Across more than 70 
payroll providers

P
age 74



PSS – Roles and Responsibilities

ADMINISTRATION OF 
LGPS

MAINTAIN AND 
REVIEW STATEMENTS 

AND POLICIES

COMMUNICATE AND 
ENGAGE WITH 

EMPLOYERS

PROVIDE SUPPORT 
AND TRAINING TO 

EMPLOYERS

MAINTAIN ONLINE 
INFORMATION

P
age 75



LGPS Changes in Membership (000’s) – SAB Annual 
Reports

Actives

Deferreds

Pensioners

P
age 76



Merton Membership data

5 Year Member Data Mar-17 Mar-18 Mar-19 Mar-20 Mar-21 % Increase

Active 4,019 3,933 4,150 4,341 4,359 8%

Deferred 5,239 5,494 5,592 5,960 5,949 14%

Pensioner 3,725 3,849 3,926 4,017 4,087 10%

Total 12,983 13,276 13,668 14,318 14,395 11%

P
age 77



The administration challenges

Increasing numbers of members and 
employers

Increasing numbers of members and employers

Increased Governance/Regulatory Oversight

• Complexities of legislation changes
• Increasing numbers of members and employers
• Increased Governance/Regulatory Oversight
• Recruitment and Retention
• Cyber Crime and Fraud

Challenge

• Missing data / poor quality data
• Backlogs / delays
• Not meeting legal timescales
• Reputational or financial loss

Risk

P
age 78



How we are meeting the challenges

Better Customer 
Experience, more 

efficiency and 
Reduced Risk

Measure Success 
including 

performance  
customer 

satisfaction

Members move to 
intuitive digital 

experience
Greater employer 

involvement 
Rebalance tasks 

to automation

• A direct data interchange between Payroll and the Pensions Shared Service’s Administration 
system with built-in integrity checking

• Online member portal – members amend personal details, carry out estimates, upload 
documents and view pension accounts

• Bulk processing of leavers
• “Online” Retirements
• Regular reviews of staffing levels and retention

•  

P
age 79



Member Self Service

• View pension account
• Amend personal details, including 

Expression of Wish
• Carry out pension calculations
• View correspondence including 

Annual Benefit Statements
• Upload documents
• Submit requests

P
age 80



Document is Restricted

Page 81

Agenda Item 10
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 83

Agenda Item 11
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 113

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 117

Agenda Item 12
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 123

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 149

Agenda Item 13
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting
	4 Quarterly Fund Performance Review (Oct to Dec 2021)
	3.1 London Borough of Merton Q4 2021 IMR v2 Lite

	5 Merton Pension Fund 2021/22 Audit Plan and 2020/21 Final Audit results report
	4.1 Merton pension Fund - Audit Results Report (ARR) 20.21
	4.2 2022 MPF Outline Audit Plan

	6 Merton Pension administration- update by Pension shared services
	10 Minutes of the previous meeting (exempt)
	11 Quarterly Fund and investment Managers Performance Review (Oct to Dec 2021).
	9.1Macquarie - Manager Update

	12 Social Impact Investment - recommendation
	10.1 Project Geranium - Due Diligence Report

	13 Investment priorities

